## TUMOR MARKERS FOR THE EARLY DETECTION OF BLADDER CANCER

# Ken-ryu Han<sup>1</sup>, Allan J Pantuck<sup>1</sup>, Arie S Belldegrun<sup>1</sup>, Jian-Yu Rao<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Depratment of Urology and <sup>2</sup> Pathology and Laboratory Medicine, University of California School of Medicine, Los Angeles, California

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

1. Abstract

- 2. Introduction
  - 2.1. Background
  - 2.2. Rationale for biomarkers
- 3. Cytology
- 4. Nuclear Matrix Protein 22- FDA approved
- 5. Bladder tumor antigen FDA approved
- $6. \ Fibrin/Fibrogen\ degradation\ products-FDA\ approved$
- 7. BLCA-4
- 8. Telemorase
- 9. Cytokeratins
- 10. Hyaluronic acid/hyaluronidase
- 11. Survivin
- 12. DNA ploidy and S-phase fraction
- 13. Tumor-associated antigens
  - 13.1. M344
  - 13.2. 19A211 13.3. DD23
- 14. Microsatellite instability assays
- 15. Biomarker risk assessment
- 16. Perspective
- 17. References

## 1. ABSTRACT

Several urine markers have been and are currently being investigated for the diagnosis and prognostication of bladder malignancies. While cystoscopy and urine cytology remain the gold standard in the detection of bladder cancer, cystoscopy is invasive and cytology yields low sensitivities in low-grade disease. The availability of a non-invasive, accurate, office-based test would be ideal. In this review, we discuss markers that are useful in the prevention and detection of transitional cell carcinoma of the bladder. In general, each of the markers has better sensitivities than cytology, but lower specificities. Furthermore, each of these markers must still be used in adjunct with cystoscopy.

## 2. INTRODUCTION

#### 2.1. Background

Transitional cell carcinoma (TCC) is the second most common malignancy in the genitourinary tract in the United States. Approximately 53,200 cases of bladder cancer were diagnosed with 12,100 deaths in 2000(1).

Approximately 75 % of patients present with superficial disease (Ta and T1), while 20 % present with T2 or greater disease. The remaining 5 % present with metastatic disease. Overall, 70 % of treated tumors recur, with 30 % of these recurrent tumors progressing to metastatic disease (2).

#### 2.2. Rationale For Tumor Markers

Due to its ease of accessibility, the bladder represents an ideal model for studies in risk assessment, early detection, and the investigation of biomarkers(3). Currently, the treatment and monitoring of patients with bladder cancer imposes a heavy economic burden on the health care system. While urinalysis, cytology, and cystoscopy remain established modalities for the detection and monitoring of TCC, these tests are either too invasive or lack sensitivity and/ or specificity(2). Furthermore, longterm surveillance is inconvenient to the patient. These shortcomings have led to the impetus to develop histologic, molecular, and genetic markers that will aid in the early detection, screening, chemoprevention, and perhaps the therapeutic targeting of bladder cancer. The ideal biomarker should be noninvasive, provide rapid results, be easy to interpret with little or no variability amongst users, cost-effective, and most importantly, have a high sensitivity and specificity (2,4). Potential roadblocks in identifying the ideal marker include the need to obtain consistent samples, to standardize methods of fixation, to assure quality control of assay methods, and to optimize interpretation of the data in the context of the clinical question at hand (3). The selection of a biomarker depends on whether the objective is prevention, detection/screening, surveillance, or predicting the biological behavior (ie risk of progression/spread) of the neoplasm (3).

In this review, we briefly highlight markers that are currently available or under investigation for the detection of bladder cancer. As such, markers that are useful in monitoring/surveillance and predicting progression/ recurrence are beyond the scope of this review, although many of the markers herein discussed will cross over into the other categories. We will begin by briefly summarizing markers that are currently used in clinical practice, some of which have been approved by the Federal Drug Administration (FDA). We follow that with a preview of markers that are more investigational but may potentially be integrated into clinical practice in the near future.

#### 3. CYTOLOGY

Urinary cytology identifies malignant cells that have been exfoliated from the urothelium into the urine. The specificity of cytology is greater than 90 % (5), while the sensitivity for high-grade disease and carcinoma-*in-situ* (cis) is about 80 - 90 % (6,7).

Shortcomings of voided cytology include a low sensitivity of approximately 20-40 % for low grade disease (2). Low grade or well-differentiated TCC cells are not routinely shed into the urine, are very difficult to differentiate from normal cells microscopically, and are cohesive.

In short, cytology is ideal for detecting and following high grade tumors, including carcinoma-*in-situ* but lacks distinguishing histologic findings with regards for low grade tumors, yielding low overall sensitivity rates (3,4).

# 4. NUCLEAR MATRIX PROTEIN 22 (NMP-22) – FDA APPROVED

The nuclear matrix protein (NMP) consists of a three-dimensional web of RNA and proteins which supports the nuclear shape, organizes DNA and coordinates DNA replication, transcription, and gene expression (2,8) NMP released into the urine may be detected by a FDA approved NMP-22 (9) enzyme-linked assay kit (Matritech, Newton, Mass).

NMP-22 is a 238-kDa protein that may be detected at up to 25-fold greater concentration when compared to normal urothelium (10,11). The enzyme-

linked immunoassay uses 2 monoclonal antibodies to measure the levels of complexed and fragmented forms of the mitotic apparatus in urine (10). In a review of over 1100 patients from seven series, Konety and Getzenberg reported an overall sensitivity of 70.5 % and a specificity of 75.2 % (8,12-16). A major source of false positivity is hematuria and pyuria (17). This is a serious problem since many benign urological conditions such as stone disease and infection present with hematuria (18).

Soloway *et al* used NMP-22 to predict likelihood of recurrence after transurethral resection (12). Levels less than 10 U/mL were predictive of low likelihood of recurrence while levels greater than 10 U/mL were predictive of recurrence.

In short, NMP-22 has an overall higher sensitivity when compared to cytology and may be used to predict increased recurrence risk in patients who levels are greater than 10 U/mL after transurethral resections.

# 5. BLADDER TUMOR ANTIGEN (BTA) –FDA APPROVED

The term BTA actually describes three separate tests: (1) BTA (2) BTA stat (3) and BTA TRAK. The original BTA test consisted of a latex-agglutination test which measures levels of basement protein antigen which are released into urine as a result of tumor invading into the stroma (19). Since the BTA tests depend on the disruption of basement membrane, its sensitivity improves with more invasive cancer (20).

In a review of over 1000 patients (seven series), the sensitivity of the original BTA test was only 52.3 %, while the specificity was 84.6 % (13,21-26).

Advantages include increased sensitivity for invasive tumors. Disadvantages include a high-rate of false-positive readings secondary to patients with inflammatory conditions such as benign prostatic hypertrophy and a low overall sensitivity for detection all bladder cancers.

BTA stat and BTA TRAK detect human complement factor H (hCFH). The qualitative BTA stat test costs only \$ 5 dollars and is easily performed in the office with a dipstick (27). Overall sensitivity is 65 % and specificity is 65 % (8). BTA TRAK is a quantitative test which has improved sensitivities over its two BTA predecessors (28,29), but has high false positive rates in patients with stones, inflammatory conditions, benign prostatic hyperplasia (BPH), and trauma; this leads to low specificity rates (31).

Overall, the three BTA tests lead to an improved sensitivity compared to cytology, but lower specificities due to high false positive rates associated with recent instrumentation, stones, or inflammatory conditions (i.e. BPH).

### 6. FIBRIN-FIBRINOGEN DEGRADATION PRODUCTS (FDP) – FDA APPROVED

Since bladder tumor cells have increased vascular permeability, cellular proteins such as plasminogen and fibrinogen leak into the urine. Urokinase subsequently converts plasminogen into plasmin which then converts fibrinogen into fibrin-fibrinogen products (FDP) (32). It follows then that patients with bladder cancer may have increased levels of FDP. In a review of four series, combined sensitivity was 68 % and combined specificity was 78% (23,33-35).

The test costs about \$ 15 dollars and takes less than 10 minutes (27). However, the AccuDx-FDP is not currently being produced due to issues regarding test formulation (4). Advantages include high-yield with invasive tumors presumably because of increased leakage of FDP. Disadvantages include poor sensitivities for lowgrade disease and poor specificities due to reasons previously mentioned in association with BTA tests.

#### 7. BLCA-4

Konety and Getzenberg have recently described several specific nuclear matrix proteins which are present only in patients with bladder cancer (BLCA 1-6) and 3 proteins which are present in normal bladder tissue (BLNL 1-3) (36). They reported that BLCA-4 levels were significantly higher than those found in normal controls and that 53 of 55 (96 % sensitivity) samples had BLCA-4 From their early results, Konety expression (37). concluded that BLCA-4 may be more accurate that NMP-22 and that it may be more specific because it is not present in any other tissue or tumors. They are currently conducting a large multicenter prospective clinical trial to confirm whether BLCA-4 may be a bladder cancer specific marker that is not falsely elevated by other tumors or other benign bladder conditions which have lowered the specificities of other tests such as BTA and NMP.

#### 8. TELOMERASE

Telomeres are nucleotide sequences that are important in maintaining DNA stability of cells. Loss of telomeres is associated with each cycle of DNA replication. Telomerase is an enzyme which protects telomeres from degradation enzymes; increased levels of telomerase subsequently allows tumor cells to maintain immortality (38).

Increased levels of telomerase secreted into the urine by bladder cancer cells are detected with the telomeric repeat amplification protocol (TRAP) assay, which is based on PCR. This test takes about 10 hours and costs about \$ 17 (4,38). A review of three series (over 200 patients) series confirmed the sensitivity to be about 74 % with a specificity of almost 79 % (8,13,39,40).

Difficulties associated with the telomerase test have limited its widespread use. Urine must be processed within a 24 hour period.(8)At least 50 cells must express telomerase for the assay to reliably detect telomerase (8,41). Finally, contaminants such as ribonuclease may render the test falsely negative (42).

#### 9. CYTOKERATINS

Cytokeratins (CK) make up a large component of intermediate filaments that are found in epithelial cells (43). While there are many urine-based tests that detect cytokeratins, we will focus only CK 20 because it has been shown to be expressed only in bladder cancer cells, while the others are non-specific (43,44).

Klein *et al* reported a sensitivity of 91 % and a specificity of 67 % in a study of 87 patients. There was no correlation with grade (44). Specimens with false-positive results had cytologies consistent with premalignant conditions such as atypia, hyperplasia, or metaplasia (43,44). Completely health patients all had negative CK 20 levels.

Using a immunocytochemical approach, recent analyses on archived urine slides showed that overall sensitivity and specificity for CK20 for the detection of urothelial carcinoma were 94.4% and 80.5%, respectively. Cytokeratin 20 is a novel early detection immunocytochemical marker for transitional cell carcinoma (TCC) in archived urine slides (45). This study demonstrated that CK20 analysis is a useful adjunct marker for urine cytology, in which analysis of CK20 can be performed conveniently on the same slide after routine morphological evaluation. This marker could be used to triage atypical urine cytology into low and high risk categories so that different follow up modalities can be carried out.

Drawbacks to CK's may include the possibility that they may be positive in other types of epithelial cancers. In total, CK 20 has very low false-positive rates in completely healthy patients. It not only predicts bladder cancers of all grades with high sensitivities (91 %), but also may possess the potential to detect premalignant conditions such as atypia and metaplasia.

### 10. HYALURONIC ACID/HYALURONIDASE

Hyaluronic acid (HA) is a glycosaminoglycan that promotes tumor cell adhesion and angiogenesis (8,46). Hyaluronidase (HAase) is an enzyme which cleaves HA into fragments; these cleaved fragments then aid tumor growth and propagation by promoting angiogenesis (47,48). Increased levels of HAase have been associated with high-grade disease (49). HA by itself has a 92 % sensitivity and 93 % specificity for all tumor grades (50).

#### **11. SURVIVIN**

Survivin is a recently discovered inhibitor of apoptosis which allows bladder cancer to extend cell viability (51,52). Survivin is undetectable in most normal adult tissue and correlates with unfavorable disease and shortened overall survival in neuroblastoma, colorectal and non-small cell lung cancers (53-56). Smith *et al* have recently published the results of survivin and its connection to bladder cancer.(52) They surveyed urine specimens from five groups: (1) 17 healthy volunteers, (2) 30 patients with nonneoplastic disease, (3) 30 patients with genitourinary cancer, but not TCC, (4) 46 patients with new onset or recurrent bladder cancer, and (5) 35 patients whose bladder cancer had been treated.

Urine specimens were analyzed with a polyclonal antibody and then validated with both western blot and RT-PCR. Survivin was detected in 31 of 31 bladder cancer patients using the polyclonal antibody system and 15 of 15 bladder cancer using RT-PCR, giving a sensitivity of 100 %. Only 3 of 35 patients with treated bladder cancers and negative cystoscopies tested positive for survivin, meaning survivin could potentially be used for surveillance as well (52). Or, put another way, if a patient's survivin is negative after TURBT, the interval between cystoscopies could potentially be lengthened as a negative survivin could be predictive of a lack of bladder cancer.

Survivin was also negative in the 17 healthy volunteers and the 30 patients with genitourinary cancers unrelated to TCC. There were only 4 false positives in the group of 30 patients with nonneoplastic urinary tract disease. One patient had an elevated PSA, while the other three had abnormal cystoscopies (i.e. after TURP with trabeculated bladders secondary to BPH). The overall specificity for survivin was 95 % (52).

In short, survivin identified all 46 patients with bladder cancers and became negative in 32 or 35 patients once the bladder cancer was treated. Out of the 4 falsepositives, one patient actually developed bladder cancer 6 months later. Survivin could be potentially a valuable marker for both detection and monitoring, but its validation awaits further testing.

### 12. DNA PLOIDY AND S-PHASE FRACTION

DNA ploidy and S-phase fractions can be evaluated from urine samples by either flow cytometery, image cytometry (ICM), laser scanning cytometry (LSC), and fluorescence *in situ* hybridization (FISH) (2).

Flow cytometry of a voided urinary sample can be used to determine DNA ploidy and to estimate S-phase fraction (DNA synthesis). Since neoplastic cells have increased nuclear size and increased nuclear; chromatin ratios, flow cytometry will identify cells as diploid, tetraploid, or aneuploid. High grade tumors may be detected by the presence of aneuploid populations and a higher percentage of cells in the S phase (2). Sensitivities for high grade TCC or carcinoma-*in-situ* may reach 90 % (2,57,58). Because this technique requires a large number of cells, highly trained personnel and is expensive, flow cytometry has not gained widespread acceptance.

Image cytometry (ICM) uses a fluorescence microscope to measure the DNA content in each cell making this an attractive alternative to flow cytometry, which requires a large cell population. ICM is more sensitive than cytology or flow cytometry in detecting low grade TCC (59).

Laser scanning cytometry combines the advantages of flow cytometry and ICM by laser scanning to quantify the fluorescence of individual cells (60).

## 13. TUMOR-ASSOCIATED ANTIGENS

Monoclonal antibodies can be used to identify several TCC-associated antigens which are normally absent in healthy urothelium. M 344, 19 A 211, and DD23 are some of these tumor markers that are currently being investigated as potential markers for TCC.

#### 13.1. M 344

M 344 has been shown to be detectable in about 70 % of low grade (Ta and T1) tumors, but its expression drops to 25 % for carcinom-*in-situ* and 15 % for invasive disease (2,61). A recent study involving a cohort of Chinese workers demonstrated that it is a very specific marker for the detection of bladder cancer at the early stage (62).

### 13.2. 19 A 211

This antigen is found in up to 25 % of normal umbrella cells. Similar to M 344, it is better for predicting grade, with 70 % expression in Ta and T1 tumors, but dropping to 50 % expression in invasive tumors (2,63).

#### 13.3. DD 23

This antigen is identified in 81 % of bladder tumors and has a 85 % sensitivity with quantitative fluorescence imaging with a 95 % specificity (8,64). When used in combination with cytology, the sensitivity for detecting bladder cancer is 94 % with a specificity of 85 % (2).

#### 14. MICROSATELLITE INSTABILITY ASSAYS

Similar to other malignancies, bladder cancer DNA repair mechanisms may be defective, which lead to persistent errors in replication. Microsatellites are inherited tandem repeat DNA sequences with low mutation rates that can be analyzed to detect these replication errors (65,66). Polymerase chain reaction (PCR) amplification of these tandem repeat sequences can identify loss of heterozygosity and can be used to map tumor suppressor genes (67-70).

Microsatellite analysis has been used to confirm that low grade papillary TCC has instability and / or loss in parts of chromosome 9 and p16 (MTS1) tumor suppressor gene (65,71). Low stage tumors typically have loss of heterozygosity (LOH) in the 9p region on microsatellite analysis (65,72). Using microsatellite analysis and PCR, Mao *et al* were able to identify 19 of 20 patients (95 % sensitivity) with genetic alterations, however, 2 of 4 samples with inflammatory atypia also showed positive findings in Mao's analysis (8,73).

Other studies have shown that microsatellite assay may be used to predict recurrence of TCC. The sensitivities of four studies ranged from 83~% to 95~%

(65,73-75). Some of these studies reported that the assays were able to predict a recurrence months before cystoscopic confirmation of recurrence. However, large scale analysis will be needed to determine the specificity of this test, especially in symptomatic populations, before one can evaluate the true clinical utility of the test.

### **15. BIOMARKER RISK ASSESSMENT**

Up to this point we have mainly focused on markers that are used for the early detection of bladder cancer. A review on bladder cancer detection would not be complete without mention of risk assessment. The mean time from initial carcinogen exposure to the development of transitional cell carcinoma may be up to 20 years. Thus, the best form of detection may be actually predicting which patients will eventually develop bladder cancer by assessing risk factors.

In a landmark study, Hemstreet *et al* examined three biomarkers in an effort to risk stratify a population of Chinese workers that had been exposed to benzidine, a well know bladder carcinogen (62). In this prospective study (6 years), 1788 exposed Chinese workers and 373 nonexposed workers had their voided urine specimens assayed for DNA ploidy (expressed as 5 C exceeding rate [DNA 5 CER]), the bladder tumor-associated antigen p300, and a cytoskeletal protein (G-actin).

28 out of 1788 exposed workers developed bladder cancer, while two out of 373 nonexposed subjects also developed bladder cancer. If any of the exposed workers were positive for either DNA 5 CER or p 300, their risk of developing bladder cancer was 19.6 times higher than in workers who were negative for both markers. Workers who were positive for both markers had an 81.4 times greater risk of developing bladder cancer. G-actin was a poor marker (62). Based on their findings, patients at risk (such as those with a smoking history) can be stratified, screened, monitored, and diagnosed based on predefined markers.

## **16. PERSPECTIVE**

Cystoscopy in combination with Papanicolaou (PAP) cytology remains the most effective means of detecting bladder cancer. However, cystoscopy is an invasive procedure and while cytology remains a useful marker for high grade tumors, its utility in detecting low grade tumors remains limited due to its lack of distinguishing features in low grade disease. The selection of the ideal biomarker depends on whether the goal is prevention, detection/screening, monitoring/surveillance, or predicting progression to invasion or metastatic disease. In this review, we have focused on markers that are currently used or are being investigated for detection purposes, keeping in mind that many of the markers can also be used for other objectives.

Most of the current markers in use have higher sensitivities than cytology, especially when used to identify low grade disease. However, most of these markers also have lower specificities when compared to cytology. Furthermore, all of these tests must still be confirmed in association with cystoscopy. Complete elimination of cystoscopy to detect bladder cancers does not appear feasible, at least in the near future. One or more of these tests may eventually replace cytology as the adjunct to cystoscopy, but each and every one of the markers awaits further validation.

## **17. REFERENCES**

1. Greenlee, R. T., T. Murray, S. Bolden ,P. A. Wingo: Cancer statistics, 2000. *CA Cancer J Clin*, 50, 7-33. (2000) 2. Burchardt, M., T. Burchardt, A. Shabsigh, A. De La Taille, M. C. Benson ,I. Sawczuk: Current concepts in biomarker technology for bladder cancers. *Clin Chem*, 46, 595-605. (2000)

3. Rao, J., H. GP ,H. RE: Molecular Pathology of Early Bladder Cancer. In: Molecular Pathology of Early Cancer. Eds: S. S. IOS press, Amsterdam, Netherlands, Ch 5, 55-78, (1999).

4. Chao, D., S. J. Freedland, A. Pantuck, A. Zisman, A. S. Belldegrun: Bladder Cancer 2000: Molecular markers for the diagnosis of TCC. *Reviews in Urology*, 3, 85-93 (2001) 5. Badalament, R. A., D. K. Hermansen, M. Kimmel, H. Gay, H. W. Herr, W. R. Fair, W. F. Whitmore, Jr. ,M. R. Melamed: The sensitivity of bladder wash flow cytometry, bladder wash cytology, and voided cytology in the detection of bladder carcinoma. *Cancer*, 60, 1423-1427. (1987)

6. Gregoire, M., Y. Fradet, F. Meyer, B. Tetu, R. Bois, G. Bedard, R. Charrois , A. Naud: Diagnostic accuracy of urinary cytology, and deoxyribonucleic acid flow cytometry and cytology on bladder washings during followup for bladder tumors. *J Urol*, 157, 1660-1664. (1997)

7. Brown, F. M.: Urine cytology. It is still the gold standard for screening? *Urol Clin North Am*, 27, 25-37. (2000)

8. Konety, B. R. ,R. H. Getzenberg: Urine based markers of urological malignancy. *J Urol*, 165, 600-611. (2001)

9. Pagano, F., P. Bassi, T. P. Galetti, A. Meneghini, C. Milani, W. Artibani ,A. Garbeglio: Results of contemporary radical cystectomy for invasive bladder cancer: a clinicopathological study with an emphasis on the inadequacy of the tumor, nodes and metastases classification. *J Urol*, 145, 45-50. (1991)

10. Giannopoulos, A., T. Manousakas, D. Mitropoulos, E. Botsoli-Stergiou, C. Constantinides, M. Giannopoulou ,H. Choremi-Papadopoulou: Comparative evaluation of the BTAstat test, NMP22, and voided urine cytology in the detection of primary and recurrent bladder tumors. *Urology*, 55, 871-875. (2000)

11. Keesee, S. K., J. V. Briggman, G. Thill, Y. J. Wu: Utilization of nuclear matrix proteins for cancer diagnosis. *Crit Rev Eukaryot Gene Expr*, 6, 189-214 (1996)

12. Soloway, M. S., V. Briggman, G. A. Carpinito, G. W. Chodak, P. A. Church, D. L. Lamm, P. Lange, E. Messing, R. M. Pasciak, G. B. Reservitz, D. B. Rukstalis, M. F. Sarosdy, W. M. Stadler, R. P. Thiel ,C. L. Hayden: Use of a new tumor marker, urinary NMP22, in the detection of occult or rapidly recurring transitional cell carcinoma of the urinary tract following surgical treatment. *J Urol*, 156, 363-367. (1996)

13. Landman, J., Y. Chang, E. Kavaler, M. J. Droller ,B. C. Liu: Sensitivity and specificity of NMP-22, telomerase, and BTA in the detection of human bladder cancer. *Urology*, 52, 398-402. (1998)

14. Hughes, J. H., R. L. Katz, J. Rodriguez-Villanueva, L. Kidd, C. Dinney, H. B. Grossman ,H. A. Fritsche, Jr.: Urinary nuclear matrix protein 22 (NMP22): a diagnostic adjunct to urine cytologic examination for the detection of recurrent transitional-cell carcinoma of the bladder. *Diagn Cytopathol*, 20, 285-290. (1999)

15. Stampfer, D. S., G. A. Carpinito, J. Rodriguez-Villanueva, L. W. Willsey, C. P. Dinney, H. B. Grossman, H. A. Fritsche ,W. S. McDougal: Evaluation of NMP22 in the detection of transitional cell carcinoma of the bladder. *J Urol*, 159, 394-398. (1998)

16. Wiener, H. G., C. Mian, A. Haitel, A. Pycha, G. Schatzl ,M. Marberger: Can urine bound diagnostic tests replace cystoscopy in the management of bladder cancer? *J Urol*, 159, 1876-1880. (1998)

17. Sharma, S., C. D. Zippe, L. Pandrangi, D. Nelson, A. Agarwal: Exclusion criteria enhance the specificity and positive predictive value of NMP22 and BTA stat. *J Urol*, 162, 53-57. (1999)

18. Messing, E. M., T. B. Young, V. B. Hunt, E. B. Roecker, A. M. Vaillancourt, W. J. Hisgen, E. B. Greenberg, M. E. Kuglitsch ,J. D. Wegenke: Home screening for hematuria: results of a multiclinic study. *J Urol*, 148, 289-292. (1992)

19. Pirtskalaishvili, G., B. R. Konety ,R. H. Getzenberg: Update on urine-based markers for bladder cancer. How sensitive and specific are the new noninvasive tests? *Postgrad Med*, 106, 85-86, 91-84. (1999)

20. Schamhart, D. H., T. M. de Reijke, H. G. van der Poel, J. A. Witjes, E. C. de Boer, K. Kurth ,J. A. Schalken: The Bard BTA test: its mode of action, sensitivity and specificity, compared to cytology of voided urine, in the diagnosis of superficial bladder cancer. *Eur Urol*, 34, 99-106. (1998)

21. Sarosdy, M. F., R. W. deVere White, M. S. Soloway, J. Sheinfeld, M. A. Hudson, P. F. Schellhammer, M. V. Jarowenko, G. Adams ,B. A. Blumenstein: Results of a multicenter trial using the BTA test to monitor for and diagnose recurrent bladder cancer. *J Urol*, 154, 379-383; discussion 383-374. (1995)

22. Ianari, A., C. N. Sternberg, A. Rossetti, A. Van Rijn, A. Deidda, D. Giannarelli ,V. Pansadoro: Results of Bard BTA test in monitoring patients with a history of transitional cell cancer of the bladder. *Urology*, 49, 786-789. (1997)

23. Johnston, B., A. Morales, L. Emerson ,M. Lundie: Rapid detection of bladder cancer: a comparative study of point of care tests. *J Urol*, 158, 2098-2101. (1997)

24. Van der Poel, H. G., M. R. Van Balken, D. H. Schamhart, P. Peelen, T. de Reijke, F. M. Debruyne, J. A. Schalken ,J. A. Witjes: Bladder wash cytology, quantitative cytology, and the qualitative BTA test in patients with superficial bladder cancer. *Urology*, 51, 44-50. (1998)

25. Zimmerman, R. L., D. Bagley, C. Hawthorne ,M. Bibbo: Utility of the Bard BTA test in detecting upper urinary tract transitional cell carcinoma. *Urology*, 51, 956-958. (1998)

26. Nasuti, J. F., L. G. Gomella, M. Ismial ,M. Bibbo: Utility of the BTA stat test kit for bladder cancer screening. *Diagn Cytopathol*, 21, 27-29. (1999)

27. Ramakumar, S., J. Bhuiyan, J. A. Besse, S. G. Roberts, P. C. Wollan, M. L. Blute ,D. J. O'Kane: Comparison of screening methods in the detection of bladder cancer. *J Urol*, 161, 388-394. (1999)

28. Heicappell, R., I. C. Wettig, M. Schostak, M. Muller, U. Steiner, T. Sauter ,K. Miller: Quantitative detection of human complement factor H-related protein in transitional cell carcinoma of the urinary bladder. *Eur Urol*, 35, 81-87. (1999)

29. Ellis, W. J., B. A. Blumenstein, L. M. Ishak, D. L. Enfield: Clinical evaluation of the BTA TRAK assay and comparison to voided urine cytology and the Bard BTA test in patients with recurrent bladder tumors. The Multi Center Study Group. *Urology*, 50, 882-887. (1997)

30. Mahnert, B., S. Tauber, M. Kriegmair, U. M. Schmitt, U. Hasholzner, W. Reiter, K. Hofmann, N. Schmeller ,P. Stieber: BTA-TRAK--a useful diagnostic tool in urinary bladder cancer? *Anticancer Res*, 19, 2615-2619. (1999)

31. Heicappell, R., M. Schostak, M. Muller ,K. Miller: Evaluation of urinary bladder cancer antigen as a marker for diagnosis of transitional cell carcinoma of the urinary bladder. *Scand J Clin Lab Invest*, 60, 275-282. (2000)

32. Tsihlias, J. ,H. B. Grossman: The utility of fibrin/fibrinogen degradation products in superficial bladder cancer. *Urol Clin North Am*, 27, 39-46. (2000)

33. Schmetter, B. S., K. K. Habicht, D. L. Lamm, A. Morales, N. H. Bander, H. B. Grossman, M. G. Hanna, Jr., S. R. Silberman ,B. T. Butman: A multicenter trial evaluation of the fibrin/fibrinogen degradation products test for detection and monitoring of bladder cancer. *J Urol*, 158, 801-805. (1997)

34. McCabe, R. P., D. L. Lamm, M. V. Haspel, N. Pomato, K. O. Smith, E. Thompson ,M. G. Hanna, Jr.: A diagnostic-prognostic test for bladder cancer using a monoclonal antibody-based enzyme-linked immunoassay for detection of urinary fibrin(ogen) degradation products. *Cancer Res*, 44, 5886-5893. (1984)

35. Ewing, R., G. M. Tate ,J. W. Hetherington: Urinary fibrin/fibrinogen degradation products in transitional cell carcinoma of the bladder. *Br J Urol*, 59, 53-58. (1987)

36. Getzenberg, R. H., B. R. Konety, T. A. Oeler, M. M. Quigley, A. Hakam, M. J. Becich, R. R. Bahnson: Bladder cancer-associated nuclear matrix proteins. *Cancer Res*, 56, 1690-1694. (1996)

37. Konety, B. R., T. S. Nguyen, R. Dhir, R. S. Day, M. J. Becich, W. M. Stadler ,R. H. Getzenberg: Detection of bladder cancer using a novel nuclear matrix protein, BLCA-4. *Clin Cancer Res*, 6, 2618-2625. (2000)

38. Orlando, C., S. Gelmini, C. Selli , M. Pazzagli: Telomerase in urological malignancy. *J Urol*, 166, 666-673. (2001)

39. Yoshida, K., T. Sugino, H. Tahara, A. Woodman, J. Bolodeoku, V. Nargund, G. Fellows, S. Goodison, E. Tahara ,D. Tarin: Telomerase activity in bladder carcinoma and its implication for noninvasive diagnosis by detection of exfoliated cancer cells in urine. *Cancer*, 79, 362-369. (1997)

40. Lance, R., W. Aldous ,B. J: Telemorase activity in solid transitional cell carcinoma, bladder washings and voided urine. *Urologic Oncology*, 4, 43 (1998)

41. Kavaler, E., J. Landman, Y. Chang, M. J. Droller ,B. C. Liu: Detecting human bladder carcinoma cells in voided urine samples by assaying for the presence of telomerase activity. *Cancer*, 82, 708-714. (1998)

42. Liu, B. C. ,K. R. Loughlin: Telomerase in human bladder cancer. *Urol Clin North Am*, 27, 115-123, x. (2000) 43. Buchumensky, V., A. Klein, R. Zemer, O. J. Kessler, S. Zimlichman ,I. Nissenkorn: Cytokeratin 20: a new marker for early detection of bladder cell carcinoma? *J Urol*, 160, 1971-1974. (1998)

44. Klein, A., R. Zemer, V. Buchumensky, R. Klaper ,I. Nissenkorn: Expression of cytokeratin 20 in urinary cytology of patients with bladder carcinoma. *Cancer*, 82, 349-354. (1998)

45. Lin, S., S. L. Hirschowitz, C. Williams, P. Shintako, J. Said, J. Y. Rao: Cytokeratin 20 as an immunocytochemical marker for detection of urothelial carcinoma in atypical cytology: preliminary retrospective study on archived urine slides. *Cancer Detect Prev*, 25, 202-209 (2001)

46. Hautmann, S. H., G. L. Schroeder, F. Civantos, R. C. Duncan, R. Gnann, M. G. Friedrich, A. Hellstern, H. Huland, M. S. Soloway, V. B. Lokeshwar: [Hyaluronic acid and hyaluronidase. 2 new bladder carcinoma markers]. *Urologe A*, 40, 121-126. (2001)

47. Hautmann, S. H., V. B. Lokeshwar, G. L. Schroeder, F. Civantos, R. C. Duncan, R. Gnann, M. G. Friedrich, M. S. Soloway: Elevated tissue expression of hyaluronic acid and hyaluronidase validates the HA-HAase urine test for bladder cancer. *J Urol*, 165, 2068-2074. (2001)

48. Lokeshwar, V. B., N. L. Block: HA-HAase urine test. A sensitive and specific method for detecting bladder cancer and evaluating its grade. *Urol Clin North Am*, 27, 53-61. (2000)

49. Pham, H. T., N. L. Block ,V. B. Lokeshwar: Tumorderived hyaluronidase: a diagnostic urine marker for highgrade bladder cancer. *Cancer Res*, 57, 778-783. (1997)

50. Lokeshwar, V. B., C. Obek, M. S. Soloway ,N. L. Block: Tumor-associated hyaluronic acid: a new sensitive and specific urine marker for bladder cancer. *Cancer Res*, 57, 773-777. (1997)

51. Ambrosini, G., C. Adida ,D. C. Altieri: A novel antiapoptosis gene, survivin, expressed in cancer and lymphoma. *Nat Med*, **3**, 917-921. (1997)

52. Smith, S. D., M. A. Wheeler, J. Plescia, J. W. Colberg, R. M. Weiss, D. C. Altieri: Urine detection of survivin and diagnosis of bladder cancer. *Jama*, 285, 324-328. (2001)

53. Tanaka, K., S. Iwamoto, G. Gon, T. Nohara, M. Iwamoto , N. Tanigawa: Expression of survivin and its relationship to loss of apoptosis in breast carcinomas. *Clin Cancer Res*, 6, 127-134. (2000)

54. Kawasaki, H., D. C. Altieri, C. D. Lu, M. Toyoda, T. Tenjo, N. Tanigawa: Inhibition of apoptosis by survivin predicts shorter survival rates in colorectal cancer. *Cancer Res*, 58, 5071-5074. (1998)

55. Monzo, M., R. Rosell, E. Felip, J. Astudillo, J. J. Sanchez, J. Maestre, C. Martin, A. Font, A. Barnadas ,A. Abad: A novel anti-apoptosis gene: Re-expression of survivin messenger RNA as a prognosis marker in non-small-cell lung cancers. *J Clin Oncol*, 17, 2100-2104. (1999)

56. Adida, C., D. Berrebi, M. Peuchmaur, M. Reyes-Mugica ,D. C. Altieri: Anti-apoptosis gene, survivin, and prognosis of neuroblastoma. *Lancet*, 351, 882-883. (1998)

57. Melamed, M. R.: Flow cytometry of the urinary bladder. *Urol Clin North Am*, 11, 599-608. (1984)

58. Mora, L. B., S. V. Nicosia, J. M. Pow-Sang, N. K. Ku, J. I. Diaz, J. Lockhart ,A. Einstein: Ancillary techniques in the followup of transitional cell carcinoma: a comparison of cytology, histology and deoxyribonucleic acid image analysis cytometry in 91 patients. *J Urol*, 156, 49-54; discussion 54-45. (1996)

59. Parry, W. L. ,G. P. Hemstreet, 3rd: Cancer detection by quantitative fluorescence image analysis. *J Urol*, 139, 270-274. (1988)

60. Kamentsky, L. A. ,L. D. Kamentsky: Microscope-based multiparameter laser scanning cytometer yielding data comparable to flow cytometry data. *Cytometry*, 12, 381-387 (1991)

61. Fradet, Y. ,C. Cordon-Cardo: Critical appraisal of tumor markers in bladder cancer. *Semin Urol*, 11, 145-153. (1993)

62. Hemstreet, G. P., 3rd, S. Yin, Z. Ma, R. B. Bonner, W. Bi, J. Y. Rao, M. Zang, Q. Zheng, B. Bane, N. Asal, G. Li, P. Feng, R. E. Hurst, W. Wang: Biomarker risk assessment and bladder cancer detection in a cohort exposed to benzidine. *J Natl Cancer Inst*, 93, 427-436. (2001)

63. Malmstrom, P. U., C. Busch, B. J. Norlen ,B. Andersson: Expression of ABH blood group isoantigen as a prognostic factor in transitional cell bladder carcinoma. *Scand J Urol Nephrol*, 22, 265-270 (1988)

64. Grossman, H. B., R. W. Washington, Jr., T. E. Carey ,M. Liebert: Alterations in antigen expression in superficial bladder cancer. *J Cell Biochem Suppl*, 63-68 (1992)

65. Ross, J. S. ,M. B. Cohen: Ancillary methods for the detection of recurrent urothelial neoplasia. *Cancer*, 90, 75-86. (2000)

66. Brentnall, T. A.: Microsatellite instability. Shifting concepts in tumorigenesis. *Am J Pathol*, 147, 561-563. (1995)

67. Cairns, P., K. Tokino, Y. Eby ,D. Sidransky: Homozygous deletions of 9p21 in primary human bladder tumors detected by comparative multiplex polymerase chain reaction. *Cancer Res*, 54, 1422-1424. (1994)

68. Mao, L., D. J. Lee, M. S. Tockman, Y. S. Erozan, F. Askin ,D. Sidransky: Microsatellite alterations as clonal markers for the detection of human cancer. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 91, 9871-9875. (1994)

69. Ruppert, J. M., K. Tokino ,D. Sidransky: Evidence for two bladder cancer suppressor loci on human chromosome 9. *Cancer Res*, 53, 5093-5095. (1993)

70. van der Riet, P., H. Nawroz, R. H. Hruban, R. Corio, K. Tokino, W. Koch ,D. Sidransky: Frequent loss of chromosome 9p21-22 early in head and neck cancer progression. *Cancer Res*, 54, 1156-1158. (1994)

71. Orntoft, T. F., H. Wolf: Molecular alterations in bladder cancer. *Urol Res*, 26, 223-233 (1998)

72. Christensen, M., M. A. Jensen, H. Wolf , T. F. Orntoft: Pronounced microsatellite instability in transitional cell carcinomas from young patients with bladder cancer. *Int J Cancer*, 79, 396-401. (1998)

73. Mao, L., M. P. Schoenberg, M. Scicchitano, Y. S. Erozan, A. Merlo, D. Schwab ,D. Sidransky: Molecular

detection of primary bladder cancer by microsatellite analysis. *Science*, 271, 659-662. (1996)

74. Mourah, S., O. Cussenot, V. Vimont, F. Desgrandchamps, P. Teillac, B. Cochant-Priollet, A. Le Duc, J. Fiet ,H. Soliman: Assessment of microsatellite instability in urine in the detection of transitional-cell carcinoma of the bladder. *Int J Cancer*, 79, 629-633. (1998) 75. Linn, J. F., M. Lango, S. Halachmi, M. P. Schoenberg ,D. Sidransky: Microsatellite analysis and telomerase activity in archived tissue and urine samples of bladder cancer patients. *Int J Cancer*, 74, 625-629. (1997)

Key Words: Tumor Markers, Bladder Cancer, Review

Send correspondence to: Dr JianYu Rao, Department of Pathology and Laboratory Medicine, University of California School of Medicine, 13-186 Center for Health Sciences, Los Angeles, CA 90095-1738, Tel: 310-206-1434, Fax: 310-206-5343, E-mail: khan@mednet.ucla.edu